Kristine Engøy

How do the same job demands and resources predict work engagement and workaholism?

A SEM analysis investigating the relation between job characteristics and heavy work investment

Master's thesis in Work and Organizational Psychology Trondheim, May 2017

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Social and Educational Sciences Department of Psychology



Acknowledgements

The inspiration for this thesis came while I was studying for my bachelor degree, when I was introduced to positive psychology and the concept of work engagement. Work engagement immediately captured my attention and became the topic of my bachelor thesis. During my master's degree, I began to question how work engagement actually differs from workaholism, and, more specifically, how can work engagement be promoted and workaholism prevented. This became the starting point for my master thesis.

There are several people I want to thank for making this thesis possible. First, I wish to thank the ARK Research Platform at The Centre for Health Promotion Research at NTNU for granting me access to their valuable research platform. I would also like to thank my main supervisor, Ingunn Hagen, and co-supervisor, Eyvind Helland, for their valuable feedback, prompt replies, and interesting debates. Last, I thank my boyfriend, Fredrik, for his patience and support during the process of writing this thesis, and my parents for their everlasting love through all my years as a student.

Kristine Engøy Trondheim, May 2016

Abstract

Work engagement and workaholism are considered as, respectively, positive and negative heavy work investment constructs, and predict opposite outcomes for job performance and well-being. Thus, work engagement should be promoted and workaholism should be prevented. Using the Job Demands-Resources (JD-R) model as a theoretical framework, this study aimed to investigate how job resources (i.e., autonomy and supervisor support) and job demands (i.e., workload and role conflict) related to work engagement and workaholism. The cross-sectional study comprised 5146 academics from the higher education sector in Norway. Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM) was performed to test the hypotheses. The results indicated that job resources were positively related to work engagement, and job demands were positively related to workaholism. In addition, the job demand workload was positively related to work engagement, and job resource autonomy was positively related to the working excessively dimension of workaholism. More specifically, these findings indicate that workload can act as a challenging demand in relation to work engagement, and autonomy can act as a threatening resource in relation to workaholism. The findings challenge the JD-R model's current definitions of when to categorize a job characteristic as a job demand or resource.

Keywords: Job Demands-Resources model, ARK Research Platform, work engagement, workaholism, autonomy, supervisor support, workload, role conflict

Table of Contents

Introduction	7
Theoretical Framework	9
The Job Demands-Resources Model	9
Work Engagement	12
Workaholism	14
Comparing Workaholism and Work Engagement	17
Hypotheses	19
Methods	23
Measures	23
Missing Values	26
Statistical Analysis	26
Results	29
Descriptive Statistics	29
PLS-SEM Analysis	
Moderated PLS-SEM	34
Discussion	
Heavy Work Investment as Two Dual Processes	
Hindrance and Challenging Demands	
Buffering and Threatening Resources	40
Theoretical Implications	
Practical Implications	
Methodological Limitations	44
Suggestions for Future Research	45
Conclusion	47
References	49

How do the same job demands and resources predict work engagement and workaholism? A SEM analysis investigating the relation between job characteristics and heavy work investment

During the last decades, working life has gone through major changes, characterized particularly by global competition, more mental and emotional demands, and technology that enables employees to be connected to work round the clock (Derks & Bakker, 2010; Schaufeli, 2013). This rapidly changing world of work both allows and stimulates employees to work harder than before (van Beek, Hu, Schaufeli, Taris, & Schreurs, 2012).

Work engagement and workaholism are two constructs of heavy work investment and are considered, respectively, as positive and negative ways of working hard (Salanova, Del Líbano, Llorens, & Schaufeli, 2014). Research shows that workaholism and work engagement are inversely related to well-being (Shimazu, Schaufeli, Kamiyama, & Kawakami, 2015). Whereas work engagement is positively related to job satisfaction (Del Libano, Llorens, Salanova, & Schaufeli, 2012; van Beek, Taris, Schaufeli, & Brenninkmeijer, 2013) and job performance and negatively related to intention to change jobs (van Beek et al., 2013), workaholism is negatively related to job satisfaction (Caesens, Stinglhamber, & Luypaert, 2014; van Beek et al., 2013) and job performance and positively related to intention to change jobs (2013). Furthermore, work-engaged employees are found to have a greater degree of life satisfaction (Schaufeli & Salanova, 2007) and experience work-to-family enrichment (Hakanen & Peeters, 2015), while workaholic employees are found to have less life satisfaction (Shimazu, Schaufeli, Kubota & Kawakami, 2012) and experience work-to-family conflict (Hakanen & Peeters, 2015). Hence, the two types of heavy work investment predict opposite outcomes for performance and well-being. Accordingly, work engagement should be promoted and workaholism should be prevented (Shimazu et al., 2015).

Equally, research has found that job resources are related to work engagement (e.g., Bakker & Demerouti, 2007), whereas job demands are related to workaholism (e.g., Schaufeli, Taris & Bakker, 2008; Molino, Bakker, & Ghislieri, 2016). Furthermore, job demands are reportedly both positively and negatively related to work engagement (e.g., Crawford, LePine, & Rich, 2010), whereas job resources are mainly negatively related to workaholism (e.g., Schaufeli et al., 2008). However, researchers have begun to question whether the job resource autonomy can promote workaholic tendencies (e.g., Hakanen & Peeters, 2015).

Academics play a vital role in the creation and development of knowledge and innovation (Gillespie, Walsh, Winefield, Dua, & Stough, 2001). However, in the pursuit of a

knowledge society, the workload of academics has increased (Houston, Meyer, & Paewai, 2006). In addition, academics experience the triple demands of research, teaching, and administration (Boyd et al., 2010), and are therefore stretching the time they spend working in order to meet the demands of the job (Houston et al., 2006). Simultaneously, job resources autonomy and flexibility are found to be the most important factors for becoming and remaining an academic (Watty, Bellamy & Morley, 2003). Such flexible work arrangements and autonomy may enhance work engagement, but they may also pave the way for extensive working and workaholic tendencies (Hakanen, Rodriguez-Sánchez, & Perhoniemi, 2012). Thus, the challenge is how to prevent workaholism while at the same time promoting work engagement among an occupational group like academics who experience both job demands and resources in high measure. To answer this question, it is important to know how the same job demands and resources relate to both constructs.

Schaufeli and colleagues (2008) argue that research should include both work engagement and workaholism to increase understanding of employee well-being. This study uses the Job Demands-Resources model (JD-R) as a theoretical framework to investigate how demands and resources are related to work engagement and workaholism among Norwegian academics. The research question is as follows:

How are the same job demands and resources related to both work engagement and workaholism?

By investigating this research question, the current study aims to make two contributions. First, greater empirical understanding of how the two heavy work investment constructs are affected by the same antecedents can contribute valuable knowledge to practitioners who are responsible for occupational health. Second, applying the JD-R model to investigate the antecedents to both work engagement and workaholism can challenge the applicability of the model, with its current definitions of job resources and demands.

This thesis starts with an examination of the theoretical framework, including the JD-R model, the concepts of work engagement and workaholism, and the study's hypothesis. Next, the methods used and results will be presented. Thereafter, the results will be discussed in light of earlier empirical findings and the JD-R model, followed by theoretical and practical implications, suggestions for future research, and the conclusion of this study.

Theoretical Framework

The Job Demands-Resources Model

The job demands-resources (JD-R) model is a theoretical model that focuses on negative and positive indicators of employee well-being (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). The model states that every occupation has its own job characteristics, which can be classified into one of two categories—namely, job demands and job resources (Bakker & Demerouti, 2016). Job demands refer to the "physical, psychological, social, or organizational aspects of the job that require sustained physical and/or psychological effort or skills and are therefore associated with certain physiological and/or psychological costs" (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007, p. 312). Examples of job demands are role overload, role conflict, and job insecurity. Job resources refer to the "physical, psychological, social, or organizational aspects of the job" (p. 312) that are (1) functional in achieving work goals, (2) reduce job demands and the associated physiological and psychological costs, and/or (3) stimulate personal growth, learning, and development (2007). Examples of job resources include job autonomy, social support, and performance feedback. The balance between positive (i.e., resources) and negative (i.e., demands) job characteristics are thought to affect employee health and wellbeing (Schaufeli & Taris, 2014).

The JD-R model describes how job demands and resources lead to two different psychological processes: a health-impairment process and a motivational process, respectively (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007; Bakker & Demerouti, 2016). Through the health-impairment process, job demands are suggested to exhaust employees' mental and physical resources and therefore lead to energy depletion and health problems. In the motivational process, on the other hand, job resources are thought to have a motivational potential and foster positive organizational outcomes (Schaufeli & Taris, 2014). According to the JD-R model, job resources can play an intrinsic motivational role because they foster employees' growth, learning, and development (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007) by fulfilling basic human needs (i.e., autonomy, competence, relatedness; Deci & Ryan, 1985). For instance, decision latitude can satisfy the need for autonomy, feedback can foster learning and thus increase job competence, and social support can satisfy the need to belong (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Job resources can also play an extrinsic motivational role insofar as resourceful working environments foster the willingness to dedicate one's effort and abilities to the work task (Meijman & Mulder, 1998); job resources are, therefore, instrumental in achieving work goals (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). For instance, social support from colleagues and feedback from superiors

can increase the chance of success in attaining one's work goals (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2004). In the health-impairment process, burnout is often regarded as a mediator between job demands and employee health and well-being, whereas work engagement is often regarded as a mediator between job resources and organizational outcomes in the motivational process (Schaufeli & Taris, 2014). Hence, these dual processes are thought to affect job performance in different ways (Bakker & Demerouti, 2016).

Furthermore, the interaction between job demands and job resources is thought to impact the development of job strain and motivation. More specifically, job resources can buffer the impact of job demands on job strain (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007, 2016). Characteristics of the work situation may also buffer the impact of job demands on job strain if the reasons for the presence of a stressor are predictable, understandable, or controllable (Kahn & Byosiere, 1992). Several studies have found that employees who have access to many job resources cope better with their job demands. For instance, a study among Finnish teachers found that the relationship between pupil misbehavior and work engagement was negatively moderated by the following job resources: supervisor support, organizational climate, and appreciation (Bakker, Hakanen, Demerouti, & Xanthopoulou, 2007). Similarly, a study among employees working in higher education in the Netherlands found that the job resources job autonomy, social support from colleagues, and high-quality relationships with supervisors significantly buffered the impact of the job demand work overload on the burnout construct exhaustion (Bakker, Demerouti, & Euwema, 2005). How job resources act as buffers is thought to differ between resources (Bakker et al., 2007). For example, support from supervisors may ease the influence of job demands on strain because their appreciation and support might cast the demands in another, more positive fashion (2007).

Lastly, the JD-R model proposes that job resources particularly influence motivation when job demands are high (Bakker & Demerouti, 2016). This proposition is in accordance with Hobfoll's (2001) notion that all types of resources gain their motivational potential and are particularly useful when needed. To illustrate, Bakker and colleagues (2007) have found that job resources particularly boost work engagement when job demands are high, which lends support to what they call the "coping hypothesis." The coping hypothesis suggests that employees are more likely to use job resources as a coping mechanism under stressful conditions (Demerouti & Bakker, 2011).

An important elaboration of the JD-R model is the nature of job demands. More specifically, job demands are found to play a motivational role. A meta-study differentiated two categories of job demands—namely, challenging and hindrance demands (Crawford et

al., 2010). Challenging demands (e.g., time pressure, high workload, high levels of responsibility) can be described as having the potential to promote personal growth or gains, trigger positive emotions, and facilitate an active or problem-solving style of coping, which are all positively associated with work engagement (2010). Hindrance demands (e.g., role conflict, role ambiguity, organizational politics) can be described as having the potential to harm or block personal growth or gains, trigger negative emotions, and provoke a passive or emotional style of coping, and are thus negatively associated with work engagement. The meta-study found that both challenging and hindrance demands were positively related to burnout, whereas hindrance demands were negatively related and challenging demands were positively related to work engagement. Hence, job demands may relate differently to specific outcome variables (Schaufeli & Taris, 2014).

An unresolved issue of the JD-R model is the definition of job demands and resources. Schaufeli and Taris (2014) argued that the difference between job demands and resources may not be as distinct as they are by definition. The authors explained that job demands and resources usually constitute two different factors because they are *valued* negatively or positively. Thus, challenging demands that are positively related to work engagement, as found by Crawford et al. (2010), might be re-conceptualized as "resources" since they are valued positively (Schaufeli & Taris, 2014). Similarly, the job control resource can be experienced negatively for some employees and therefore be considered a threatening resource. A threatening resource might thus be conceptualized as a "demand" since it is valued negatively (2014). Schaufeli and Taris (2014) argued that as a guiding principle, demands are appraised negatively and resources are appraised positively, but future research should still focus on challenging demands (i.e., positively valued demands) and threatening resources (i.e., negatively valued resources).

In this thesis, the JD-R model will be used as a theoretical framework as it accounts for various types of well-being (Bakker & Demerouti, 2016). This thesis will investigate work engagement as a part of the motivational process, and workaholism as a part of the healthimpairment process. Furthermore, this thesis will investigate whether the established definitions of job demands and resources are applicable when studying work engagement and workaholism simultaneously in the JD-R model.

Work Engagement

The concept of *work engagement* has emerged from the research on burnout, where the two concepts are viewed as each other's opposite (Maslach, Schaufeli, & Leiter, 2001; Schaufeli, Taris, & van Rhenen, 2009). In contrast to burned-out employees, engaged employees have a sense of energetic and effective connection with their work activities and regard themselves as able to deal with job demands (2009). The most used definition of work engagement (Hakanen & Peeters, 2015; Mäkikangas, Schaufeli, Tolvanen, & Feldt, 2013) defines the concept as a "positive, fulfilling, work-related state of mind that is characterized by vigor, dedication and absorption" (Schaufeli, Salanova, Gonzàlez-Romá, & Bakker, 2002, p. 74). Vigor is characterized by high levels of energy and mental resilience while working, whereas *dedication* is characterized by strong involvement in one's work and the experience of a sense of significance. Absorption is characterized by full concentration and content engrossment in one's work, where time passes quickly and difficulty detaching from the work at hand might be experienced (Bakker & Demerouti, 2008). The three dimensions are thought to cover behavioral-energetic (vigor), emotional (dedication), and cognitive (absorption) components (Schaufeli, 2013). In other words, work-engaged employees have high levels of energy, are enthusiastic about their work, and are often so fully immersed in their work that time seems to pass more quickly (Bakker & Demerouti, 2008).

Antecedents. The majority of published empirical research on the antecedents of work engagement has been grounded in the job demands-resources model (Crawford et al., 2010). As the JD-R model states, job resources can lead to work engagement through the motivational process. Job resources can be energizing, encourage persistence, and focus one's effort, thereby fostering work engagement (Schaufeli, 2013). Previous studies have consistently found that the job autonomy resource is positively related to work engagement (Bakker & Demerouti, 2008; Salanova & Schaufeli, 2008). Job autonomy refers to employees' influence in decisions over important matters, such as the pacing and timing of their work (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). It is considered a job resource as it is associated with opportunities to cope with stressful situations; therefore, autonomy is crucial for employee health and well-being (Karasek, 1998). A similar construct to job autonomy is job control, which refers to control over tasks and conduct during the work day (Karasek, 1979). Job control is regarded as a job resource that allows employees to deal with workplace demands (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). A study among Finnish health care personnel tested the relationship of different job resources to work engagement over a period of two years. The results showed that job control had the most consistent positive relation to the dimensions of

work engagement, which implies that a sufficient level of job control is needed in order to increase one's work engagement (Mauno, Kinnunen, & Ruokolainen, 2007).

The job resource social support has also been found to be positively related to work engagement (Bakker & Demerouti, 2008; Hakanen, Bakker, & Schaufeli, 2006). *Social support* refers to a helpful social interaction involving coworkers and/or supervisors (Karasek & Theorell, 1990) and is considered a job resource since it promotes the achievement of work goals (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). A positive social relationship with a supervisor can facilitate access to resources such as assistance and advice, and can therefore diminish stressful experiences caused by demanding tasks (Hobfoll, 2001). Social support is often divided into support from organizations, supervisors, and colleagues. One study found that coworker support had a positive relation to work engagement, whereas support from supervisors had no such relationship (Schaufeli et al., 2009). In contrast, a study by Caesens and colleagues (2014) found that perceived supervisor support was positively related to work engagement, and was an even more powerful source of support than perceived organizational and coworker support. Social support from supervisors has also been found to moderate the effect of job demands on work engagement (Bakker et al., 2007).

Scholars have generally concluded that job demands do not predict work engagement (Crawford et al., 2010). Still, job demands have been found to be related to work engagement, even though the relationship between job resources and work engagement was found to be stronger (Hakanen et al., 2006; Halbesleben, 2010; Mauno et al., 2007). A meta-analysis by Crawford and colleagues (2010) found that the relationship of job demands to work engagement is dependent of the nature of the demands. Their results showed that challenging demands such as job responsibility, time urgency, and workload were positively related to work engagement; whereas hindrance demands like emotional conflicts, organizational politics, and role conflicts were negatively related to work engagement. These researchers (2010) argued that challenging demands trigger positive emotions and an active, problemfocused coping style that increase one's willingness to invest energy in efforts to meet the demands, which in turn increases work engagement. Similarly, hindrance demands trigger negative emotions and a passive, emotion-focused coping style that lead to withdrawal from the situation, consequently reducing work engagement. Schaufeli and Taris (2014) have argued that to properly understand the motivational process of the JD-R model, future research should acknowledge the direct and indirect impact of job demands on work engagement.

Consequences. Work engagement has been found to have predominantly positive organizational and personal outcomes. Work engaged employees exhibit higher in-role and extra-role performance (Christian, Garza, & Slaughter, 2011), indicating that engaged employees perform well and are willing to go the extra mile (Bakker & Demerouti, 2008). Work engagement is further related to productivity, job satisfaction, job involvement and organizational commitment, proactive behavior, and lower turnover intention (Hakanen et al., 2012; Salanova & Schaufeli, 2008; Schaufeli, 2013); moreover, it has also been found to be negatively related to burnout (Halbesleben, 2010), presenteeism, and sleeping problems (Hakanen et al., 2012). Longitudinal research has also found that work engagement is related to a decrease in ill-health and depressive symptoms over time (Hakanen & Schaufeli, 2012; Shimazu et al., 2012). This indicates that even though work engagement is related to overwork, work-engaged employees do not overwork at the expense of their health (Hakanen et al., 2012). Research has further shown that work engagement is positively related to work–family enrichment and negatively related to work–family conflict (2012), also over time (Hakanen & Peeters, 2015).

Workaholism

The term *workaholism* was first introduced by Oates (1971), who described it as "the compulsion or the uncontrollable need to work incessantly" (p. 11). Several definitions of workaholism exist, with contemporary definitions commonly defining workaholism as a continual pattern of high work investment, long working hours, working beyond expectations, and an all-consuming obsession with work (Griffiths, 2011; Ng, Sorensen, & Feldman, 2007). In the literature, there are divergent opinions regarding the affective component of workaholism. For instance, Spence and Robbins (1992) regarded true workaholics as highly involved in work but low on work enjoyment, whereas others have regarded workaholics as those who greatly enjoy the act of working (e.g., Ng et al., 2007). Schaufeli et al. (2008) argued that work enjoyment should not be considered a defining feature of workaholism. Rather, the authors considered the affective dimension of work enjoyment to be part of work engagement, not workaholism.

In this thesis, workaholism is defined as "the tendency to work excessively hard and to being obsessed with work, which manifests itself in working compulsively" (Schaufeli, Shimazu, & Taris, 2009, p. 322). This definition corresponds with Oates' (1971) original definition of workaholism (Schaufeli, Bakker, van der Heijden, & Prins, 2009a) and conceptualizes workaholism as a combination of two dimensions: *working excessively* and

working compulsively. Working excessively represents a behavioral dimension whereby employees dedicate an exceptional amount of their time and energy to work, and work beyond what is required (Mazzetti, Schaufeli, & Gugliemi, 2014). Working compulsively represents a cognitive dimension whereby employees are obsessed with their work and persistently think about it, even when they are not working (Mazzetti et al., 2014).

An important aspect of workaholism is its addictive nature. Whereas people might work long hours due to financial problems, marital difficulties, social pressure, or career advancement, workaholic employees work long hours due to an obsessive internal drive that cannot be resisted (Schaufeli et al., 2009a). Thus, workaholism should be considered beyond the number of working hours, as one cannot neglect its addictive nature (Schaufeli, Bakker, van der Heijden, & Prins, 2009b).

Antecedents. Research has used several different approaches when investigating the antecedents to workaholism. Some studies have indicated that personality characteristics like perfectionism, nondelegation, achievement motivation, and a Type A personality are related to workaholism (Clark, Michel, Zhdanova, Pui, & Baltes, 2016; Mazzetti et al., 2014). In addition, it seems like the interaction between work climate and personality affects the relation to workaholism. For instance, Mazzetti and colleagues (2014) found that conscientiousness and self-efficacy were only related to workaholism in interaction with an overwork climate.

In the context of the JD-R model, workaholism has usually been treated like a personal resource (Bakker & Demerouti, 2016). There is thus a lack of studies investigating the relationship between working conditions and workaholism (Molino et al., 2016). However, some studies have investigated the relationship between job demands and workaholism. For instance, role conflict, workload, cognitive demands, and emotional demands have been found to be positively related to workaholism (Molino et al., 2016; Schaufeli et al., 2008; Taris, Schaufeli, & Verhoeven, 2005). Role conflict is a demand that has frequently been reported as a source of stress among academics (Gillespie et al., 2001). This type of conflict can be defined as incompatible expectations among the roles one possesses (Idris, 2011). A study among Dutch junior doctors found that the two dimensions of workaholism were strongly related to intra-role conflict, i.e., conflict between different roles at work (Schaufeli et al., 2009b). Another prevalent demand among academics is workload (Winefield, 2000). Work pressure and time pressure involve the sense of having too much to do in the time available, and is often treated as an indicator of workload (Boyd et al., 2010). Workload is considered as a central component of job demands for most workers (Karasek & Theorell, 1990) and has

been found to have a positive relationship with workaholism (Schaufeli et al., 2008).

It seems that the type of demand relates differently to the two dimensions of workaholism. One study found that quantitative demands (e.g., work overload, mental and organizational demands) are more important for working excessively than working compulsively (Schaufeli et al., 2008). For instance, work overload was found to be the most important predictor for working excessively, whereas its relationship to working compulsively was relatively weak. On the other hand, qualitative demands (e.g., work–family conflict, mental and emotional demands) are important for both dimensions (2008).

The relationship between job resources and workaholism has not been studied often (Clark et al., 2016). Still, both dimensions of workaholism have been found to be related to a lack of resources (Schaufeli et al., 2008). Schaufeli and colleagues (2008) found in their study that workaholism was related to a lack of supervisory support, which they suggested might be because workaholics work in unfavorable psychological environments. In contrast, Caesens and colleagues (2014) found that coworker support was the only work-related social support that was negatively related to workaholism. Another study tested whether job resources could buffer the effect of job demands and workaholism. This study found that the job security and opportunities for development resources significantly moderated the relationship between job demands and resources, and is thus a starting point for expanding the buffer hypothesis to workaholism (Molino et al., 2016).

Job autonomy has traditionally been considered as a resource that can buffer the relationship between job demands and work-related outcomes (Karasek, 1979). However, several researches have begun to question whether job autonomy can in fact increase workaholic tendencies. For instance, one study found that employees with work latitude can use this latitude to increase, rather than decrease, their experience of overload (Laurence, Fried, & Raub, 2016). As workaholics are known to create self-imposed demands, and thus make their work more complicated than necessary (Hakanen et al., 2012), one can believe that job autonomy may increase employees' workaholic tendencies. This notion is supported by Hakanen and Peeters (2015), who emphasized that professional groups with high job autonomy can promote both engaged and workaholic tendencies. Similarly, Wrzesniewski and Dutton (2001) claimed that employees with control may use their high decision latitude to craft their work toward increased levels of duties and responsibilities.

There is some empirical evidence for the relationship between job autonomy and workaholism. A study of full-time employees from different occupational sectors compared four types of employee well-being—namely, relaxed, work-engaged, workaholic, and burned-

out. The results showed that work-engaged employees experienced the most job control compared to the other groups, whereas workaholic employees had a higher score on job control than relaxed employees (Salanova et al., 2014). Similarly, a study among Dutch medical residents found that workaholic employees did not differ from non-workaholic employees regarding the job control resource (Schaufeli et al., 2009a). On the contrary, Schaufeli et al. (2008) found a negative relationship between job control and the drive dimension (i.e., compulsivity) of workaholism.

In sum, workaholic employees were found to experience more job demands and less job resources than non-workaholic employees (Schaufeli et al., 2009a).

Consequences. Workaholism has been demonstrated to have mainly negative consequences for organizations and employees. Still, workaholism has also been found to be related to organizational commitment (Hakanen et al., 2012). Even though workaholic employees appear to feel committed to their organization, longitudinal research has not found a causal link between workaholism and job performance (Clark et al., 2016; Shimazu et al., 2012; Shimazu et al., 2015). This implies that despite workaholism being related to excessive working, workaholics do not appear to be more productive workers (Clark et al., 2016). Furthermore, it seems as workaholic employees work so hard and so compulsively that they do not have time to enjoy their job, and therefore feel less job satisfaction (Del Libano et al., 2012). Workaholism was further found to be related to sleeping problems (Hakanen et al., 2012; Schaufeli et al., 2008), absenteeism due to illness (Hakanen et al., 2012), and emotional/mental and physical psychosomatic complaints (Clark et al., 2016). Longitudinal research has also found that workaholism is related to a decrease in life satisfaction and an increase in ill-health (Shimazu, Schaufeli, & Taris, 2010; Shimazu et al., 2015). In addition, workaholism was found to be negatively related to work-family enrichment and positively related to work–family conflict (Falco et al., 2013), even over time (Hakanen & Peeters, 2015).

Comparing Workaholism and Work Engagement

Russell's circumplex model of affect (1980), which was later adapted to the workplace (Bakker & Oerlemans, 2011), can be used as a theoretical framework for distinguishing between different types of work-related subjective well-being (i.e., work engagement, workaholism, burnout, and job satisfaction). Work-related subjective well-being can be understood as a linear combination of two underlying orthogonal dimensions, which run from pleasure to displeasure, and activation to de-activation (Bakker & Oerlemans, 2011).

According to the framework, work engagement is characterized by high activation and high pleasure, while workaholism is also characterized by high activation, but also by displeasure. Furthermore, burnout is regarded as the opposite pole of work engagement and is characterized by low activation and displeasure. Job satisfaction is regarded as the opposite pole of workaholism, which is also characterized by low activation and pleasure. Salanova and colleagues (2014) have found empirical support for the theoretical framework. They found that the "pleasure" dimension had a central role in the taxonomy of work-related wellbeing. Whereas work engagement was characterized by high levels of pleasure, workaholism was characterized by low levels of pleasure. The results also showed that both work engagement and workaholism scored high on the energy dimension (similar to the activation dimension) and can be seen as positive and negative heavy work investors, respectively (Salanova et al., 2014).

As accounted for above, both work engagement and workaholism are characterized by heavy work investment (Schaufeli, Shimazu, et al., 2009). Several studies have supported the notion that workaholism and work engagement are related to working excessively hard (e.g., Salanova et al., 2014), which may be because the two constructs share the same behavioral component (Schaufeli, Shimazu, et al., 2009). Whereas workaholics are described as hard workers because of an obsessive inner drive they cannot resist, work-engaged employees work hard because they get pleasure from the work itself (2009). Hence, work-engaged employees lack the compulsive drive typical of workaholism (2009). In other words, engaged workers work hard because they like and enjoy work for its own sake, whereas workaholics work hard because they are driven by a strong inner obsession with their job (Bakker & Demerouti, 2008; Hakanen et al., 2012). This is supported by a study that investigated the underlying motivation of work engagement and workaholism. Anchored in self-determination theory, it was found that workaholic employees are mainly driven by controlled motivation, whereas work-engaged employees are mainly driven by autonomous motivation. More specifically, workaholic employees are driven by an external pressure to work, while engaged employees act with a sense of volition (van Beek, Taris, & Schaufeli, 2011).

Several researchers have investigated the relationship between work engagement and workaholism, and despite varying results, their research mainly agrees that the two constructs are distinct. Some research has found that the absorption of the work engagement dimension, in addition to load on work engagement, also has a weak loading on workaholism (Clark et al., 2014; Hakanen et al., 2012; Schaufeli et al., 2008). This suggests that workaholism and work engagement overlap with the feeling of being absorbed in one's work (Schaufeli et al.,

2008), where a high level of absorption could be a sign of workaholic tendencies (Hakanen et al., 2012). However, van Beek et al. (2011) only found a weak correlation between work engagement and workaholism, indicating that the two constructs are relatively independent. These findings were supported by Shimazu and colleagues (2012), who found that work engagement and workaholism only had a weak correlation, implying that the two constructs only share little variance. Furthermore, work engagement and workaholism are mainly related to job characteristics in the opposite direction, and thus appear to be distinct constructs (Clark et al., 2014; Schaufeli et al., 2008)

Work engagement and workaholism also seem to be unrelated over time. A study by Mäkikangas and colleagues (2013) investigated the development of work engagement and workaholism among Finnish managers over a two-year period. The results showed that work engagement and workaholism do not typically co-occur within an individual and that the level of both constructs remains stable across time. Similarly, a study among Finnish dentists found that workaholism and work engagement were unrelated over a period of seven years (Hakanen & Peeters, 2015).

In sum, work engagement and workaholism share only a weak proportion of their variance, which indicates that the two constructs are relatively distinct and unrelated over time (Mäkikangas et al., 2013). Notably, one study revealed three different groups of hard workers—namely, workaholic employees, engaged employees, and engaged workaholics (van Beek et al., 2011). The results showed that workaholic employees and engaged employees work equally hard, whereas engaged workaholics work the hardest. The study also revealed that engaged workaholics experience less burnout than workaholic employees, which might suggest that work engagement buffers the adverse effects of high levels of workaholism (van Beek et al., 2011).

Hypotheses

This study aimed to investigate how the same job demands and resources affect both workaholism and work engagement. To investigate the research question, the job autonomy and supervisor support job resources and the workload and role conflict job demands were included as independent variables. Furthermore, the work engagement and workaholism wellbeing constructs were included as dependent variables.

The JD-R model proposes that job resources have a motivational potential and can lead to work engagement. This is supported by numerous studies (e.g., Bakker & Demerouti, 2008). Thus, the first hypothesis is:

Hypothesis 1: Job resources (i.e., job autonomy and supervisor support) are positively related to work engagement.

The JD-R model further describes how job demands can cause a health-impairment process and lead to negative outcomes. Job demands have been found to be related to workaholism (e.g., Schaufeli et al., 2008), and workaholism has been shown to lead to negative outcomes (e.g., Clark et al., 2014). Thus, I argue that workaholism can be tested as a part of the health-impairment process of the JD-R model. The study's next hypothesis is:

Hypothesis 2: Job demands (i.e., workload and role conflict) are positively related to workaholism.

Schaufeli and Taris (2014) demonstrated how job demands can be valued both positively and negatively; they also stated that future research should investigate the direct and indirect impact of job demands on work engagement. Work engagement has been shown to be affected differentially by the nature of the demand, whether it be a hindrance or challenging demand (Crawford et al., 2010). Since role conflict is considered to be a hindrance demand (e.g., 2010) and workload is considered to be a challenging demand (e.g., 2010), I hypothesize:

Hypothesis 3: Role conflict is negatively related to work engagement, and workload is positively related to work engagement.

The JD-R model proposes that job resources particularly influence work engagement when job demands are high (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). I argue that the job demand workload will be considered a hindrance demand in the interaction with supervisor support and work engagement, and a challenging demand in the interaction with autonomy and work engagement. The next hypothesis is:

Hypothesis 4: Workload negatively moderates the relationship between supervisor support and work engagement, and positively moderates the relationship between autonomy and work engagement.

An unresolved issue in the JD-R model is how job resources can be valued differently (i.e., buffering or threatening; Schaufeli & Taris, 2014). Earlier research has found that supervisor support is negatively related to workaholism (e.g., Schaufeli et al., 2008), whereas job autonomy has been seen to be positively related to workaholism (e.g., Salanova et al.,

2013). Thus, I hypothesize that supervisor support will act as buffering resource, whereas job autonomy will act as a threatening resource:

Hypothesis 5: Supervisor support is negatively related to workaholism, and job autonomy is positively related to workaholism.

The JD-R model further proposes that job resources can buffer the effect of job demands on job strain. Some studies have shown that job resources might buffer the impact of job demands on workaholism (e.g., Molino et al., 2016). Thus, I argue that autonomy can act as a buffering resource in interaction with role conflict, and as a threatening resource in interaction with workload:

Hypothesis 6: Job autonomy negatively moderates the relationship between role conflict and workaholism, and positively moderates the relationship between workload and workaholism.

To my knowledge, this is the first study to investigate work engagement and workaholism simultaneously among Norwegian academics. Furthermore, to my knowledge, this is the first study to hypothesize how job resources can relate differently to workaholism (i.e., as buffering or threatening resources). The study's hypotheses are displayed in Figure 1.



Figure 1. The study's working model and its hypotheses (H) with corresponding numbers.

Methods

Study Design

The data in this thesis were collected through the ARK Intervention Programme, which is a research-based tool for working environment surveys and the implementation of interventions in knowledge-intensive organizations (Undebakke, Innstrand, Anthun, & Christensen, 2015). The implementation of the ARK Intervention Programme consists of five phases: (1) preparation of the organization and management, (2) screening with a questionnaire and the presentation of results, (3) development of action based on results, (4) implementation of actions, and (5) evaluation of the process and the results. During the second phase, the Knowledge Intensive Working Environment Survey Target (KIWEST) mapping tool was used. The KIWEST questionnaire's aim is to map important psychosocial working environment factors for universities and university colleges (Undebakke et al., 2015).

In this thesis, data collected with the KIWEST questionnaire between October 2013 and December 2015 were used. Employees at Norwegian universities and university colleges with regular payroll in a 20% position or more were invited to participate. Prior to the data collection, the survey was reported to the Data Protection Official for Research (Undebakke et al., 2015). All employees received an email with information regarding the rules of privacy protection and a private link to the online questionnaire. The survey was kept open for three weeks, and up to two reminders were sent to those who did not respond (2015). The data collected were cross-sectional.

The sample included a total of 5146 academics (i.e., professors, associate professors, lecturers, post-doctors, and doctoral research fellows) from the higher education sector in Norway. Among the respondents, 54.1% were men and 43.9% were women. Further, 13.1% were under 30 years old, 24.6% were in the 30–39-year-old age group, 23.9% were in the 40–49-year-old age group, 21.8% were in the 50–59-year-old age group, and 16.6% were over 60 years old.

Measures

The KIWEST questionnaire contains 29 validated scales to measure psychosocial working environment factors. The scales used in this study were job autonomy, supervisor support, role conflict, workload, work engagement, and workaholism.

Job autonomy. The extent to which the respondents felt they had autonomy and influence on how their work was carried out was measured by four items, as described by Näswall et al. (2010). An example item is "I have a sufficient degree of influence in my

work." The responses were measured on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*), where high scores indicate a strong sense of autonomy.

Supervisor support. The extent to which the respondents experienced support from their closest supervisor was measured by three items, adapted from Pejtersen, Kristensen, Borg, and Bjorner (2010). An example item is "My immediate superior gives me the help and support I need from her/him." The responses were measured on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). High scores indicate that the respondents felt a high degree of support from their immediate superior.

Role conflict. The extent to which the respondents perceived conflict between their different roles was originally measured by four items, as described by Dallner and colleagues (2000, cited in Undebakke et al., 2015). In the KIWEST questionnaire, the role conflict scale included four items, where the fourth item was "My job involves tasks that are in conflict with my personal values." To my knowledge, the original scale only included three items, with the fourth item regarded as a single item measuring general role expectations (Lindström et al., 2000). Thus, it was decided to remove the fourth item from the scale, and role conflict was thus measured by three items, as done by Lindström and colleagues (2000). An example item is "I frequently receive incompatible requests from two or more people." The responses were recorded on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*), where high scores indicate high conflict between one's roles.

Workload. The extent to which the respondents experienced having too much to do in too little time was measured by three items adapted from Näswall et al. (2010). A typical item is "It happens quite often that I have to work under heavy time pressure." The responses were measured on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). High scores indicate that the respondents experienced a heavy workload.

Due to conceptual confusion, I have chosen to rename the scale from its original name, *role overload*, to *workload*. Since the role overload scale is used to describe the experience of having too much to do in too little time as well as heavy workload (Näswell et al., 2010; Undebakke et al., 2015), I found it more accurate to rename the scale *workload*, as this term is more often treated as an indicator of having too much to do in too little time than role overload (Boyd et al., 2010). While role overload can be defined as conflict between several roles that require different, incompatible behaviors or changes in behavior (Rizzo, House, & Lirtzman, 1970), and for that reason it is usually considered a hindrance demand (Crawford et al., 2010), the term *role overload* is not compatible with how it is used in this thesis. Here, the scale is treated as a challenging demand, and thus renaming the scale was

considered appropriate.

Work engagement. The extent to which the respondents experienced a high degree of work engagement was measured by the nine-item Utrecht Work Engagement Scale (UWES; Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003). The three dimensions of work engagement (i.e., vigor, dedication, and absorption) were measured by three items each. Examples of items used are the following: "At my work, I feel bursting with energy" to measure vigor; "I am enthusiastic about my job" to measure dedication; and "I get carried away when I'm working" to measure absorption. The responses were measured on a seven-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*never*) to 7 (*every day*). High scores indicate that the respondents experienced high engagement at work.

As the overall scores on work engagement are of interest in this thesis, work engagement was measured as a one-factor scale, indicating that all items load on one underlying dimension. Even though the three-factor scale (i.e., measuring all three dimensions) has been demonstrated to have a better fit than the one-factor scale, the onefactor scale is found to be satisfactory (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2003).

Workaholism. The extent to which respondents indicated an addiction to work was measured by the Dutch Workaholism Scale (DUWAS; Schaufeli, Shimazu, et al., 2009). The scale measures the two dimensions of workaholism (i.e., working excessively and working compulsively) with five items each. An example item for measuring working excessively is "I find myself continuing to work after my co-workers have called it quits;" and an example item for measuring working compulsively is "It is important to me to work hard even when I do not enjoy what I am doing." The responses were measured on a four-point Likert scale ranging from 1 ((*almost*) *never*) to 4 ((*almost*) *always*), where high scores indicate a high degree of compulsory and exaggerated work effort.

As true workaholics have been found to score high on both dimensions, working excessively and working compulsively (Schaufeli et al., 2009), my aim was to investigate workaholism as one factor. Yet, since the two-factor scale for measuring workaholism has been demonstrated to be superior to the one-factor scale (Balducci et al., 2015; Schaufeli, Shimazu, et al., 2009), it was decided to measure workaholism with the two-factor scale. The two dimensions of workaholism are hereafter referred to as *working excessively* and *working compulsively*.

Control variables. To rule out alternative explanations for the findings (Schmitt & Klimoski, 1991, cited in Becker, 2005), the control variables age and gender were included in the first analysis, i.e., when investigating for main effects.

Missing Values

The original dataset included 5817 respondents. Gaskin (2017) argued that every respondent with more than 10% missing values should be excluded from the dataset. Thus, a total of 102 respondents were removed. I did not consider the removed respondents to reflect a common response issue, but rather a lack of response due to the long questionnaire. To elaborate, both scales on work engagement and workaholism were introduced late in the questionnaire and had equally missing data, even though they represented positive and negative work investment, respectively. In addition, the supervisor support scale in the KIWEST questionnaire included a response alternative, 6 (*not applicable*). Since this sixth response did not fit the continuous scale used in this analysis, a total of 569 respondents were removed from the dataset. After removal, the remaining respondents had less than 5% missing data. In the analysis, the remaining missing values were replaced with the mean value of their indicators. As recommended by Hair, Hult, Ringle, and Sarstedt (2014), mean value replacement should only be used when the data exhibit extremely low levels of missing data (i.e., < 5%), as in this data set. After the missing values were handled, the remaining sample included 5146 respondents.

Statistical Analysis

To investigate the hypothesis in this thesis, the statistical analysis Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM) was chosen. SEM is a multivariate analysis that measures the relationship between latent variables and enables the analysis of all study variables simultaneously (Hair et al., 2014). Covariance-based structural equation modeling (CB-SEM) is a widely applied SEM approach based on the maximum likelihood estimation procedure. CB-SEM is favorable in theory testing and confirmation, while PLS-SEM is favorable in prediction and theory development (Hair, Ringle, & Sarstedt, 2011). In this thesis, the PLS-SEM was found to be appropriate since the study aimed to expand the JD-R model to account for workaholism as a part of the health-impairment process and the nature of job resources. In addition, PLS-SEM was chosen over CB-SEM due to the structural model's complexity (i.e., many constructs and indicators) and simplicity for testing interaction effects with latent variables (Hair et al., 2014; Lowry & Gaskin, 2014). The PLS-SEM analysis was conducted using SmartPLS (Ringle, Wende, Sven, & Becker, 2015).

Measurement model. In the measurement model, the PLS-SEM algorithm calculates the relationship between the reflective latent variables and its indicators, i.e., loadings (l). Here, the measurement model was evaluated by investigating the reliability and validity of the

construct measures. Reliability was investigated through indicator reliability and internal consistency reliability, while validity was investigated through convergent validity and discriminant validity. Internal consistency reliability assesses whether items measuring a construct are similar in their scores (Hair et al., 2014). Cronbach's alpha is the traditional criterion for internal consistency, but since the criterion tends to underestimate internal consistency reliability and can thus be considered as a conservative measure, the composite reliability was used instead (2014). The composite reliability for a construct varies between 0 and 1, where values around 0.60-0.70 are considered acceptable in exploratory research and values between 0.70 and 0.90 are considered satisfactory (Nunally & Bernstein, 1994, cited in Hair et al., 2014). Values above 0.95 are undesirable, as this may indicate that all the items measured the same phenomenon (2014). Furthermore, *indicator reliability* assesses how much of the variation in an item is explained by the latent construct. An item's outer loading should be above 0.70, as this indicates that the latent variable explains at least 50% of the variance in the item and thus shares a larger variance than the measurement error variance (2014). *Convergent validity* assesses to what extent items of a construct share a high proportion of variance. This can be established by investigating a construct's Average Variance Extracted (AVE), which is a measure of to what degree a latent variable explains the variance of its indicators (2014). The value of AVE should be 0.50 or above, as this indicates that the construct on average explains more than one-half of the variance of its indicators. Discriminant validity investigates whether a construct by empirical standards is truly distinct from other constructs. This can be assessed with the Fornell-Larcker criterion. The criterion postulates that the square root of each construct's AVE must be larger than its highest correlation with any other latent construct (2014). This criterion assesses whether a latent construct shares more variance with its assigned indicators than another latent variable (Hair et al., 2011).

Structural model. When the measurement model was evaluated as satisfactory, the relationships in the two structural models were assessed (Hair et al., 2014). In the structural model, the algorithm estimates the relationship between the latent variables, i.e., path coefficients (*p*), based on the estimated loadings. The PLS-SEM algorithm calculates the loadings and path coefficients as standardized coefficients, ranging from -1 to +1. The path coefficients can be interpreted as standardized beta coefficients (β) of ordinary least squares regressions (Hair et al., 2011). Since the PLS-SEM algorithm does not assume that data are normally distributed, a nonparametric bootstrap procedure is applied to assess the significance of the path coefficients (Hair et al., 2014). The path coefficients are calculated to maximize

the R^2 values of the endogenous variables. The R^2 values are standardized between 0 and +1, and represent the amount of explained variance in the endogenous variable (2014). A R^2 value of 0.25, 0.50, and 0.75 can be considered as weak, moderate, and substantial, respectively (Hair et al., 2011). The f^2 effect size can further be evaluated to examine specific exogenous constructs' impact on the endogenous variable's R^2 value. An exogenous variable's f^2 value of 0.02 is considered a small effect, 0.15 is considered a medium effect, and 0.35 is considered a large effect on the endogenous variable (2011).

Two PLS-SEM analyses were conducted: the first to test the direct effects (Hypothesis 1, 2, 3, and 5), and the second as a moderation analysis to test for interaction effects (Hypothesis 4 and 6). An interaction effect occurs when a moderator changes the strength or the direction of a relationship between two constructs in a model (Hair et al., 2014). The interaction term is created with the product indicator approach, where each indicator of the (mean-centered) exogenous latent variable is multiplied with each indicator of the moderator variable, thus creating an interaction term (2014).

Results

Descriptive Statistics

The descriptive statistics for the study variables are displayed in Table 1. The average responses to the items measuring job autonomy, supervisor support, and workload are slightly above the middle score of the scale. In contrast, the average responses to the items measuring role conflict are slightly below the middle score of the scale. The items measuring work engagement are on average well above the scale's middle score, indicating that the respondents on average experience work engagement *once a week* (4) or *a couple of times per week* (5). Lastly, the items that measured the two dimensions of workaholism, working excessively and working compulsively, are close to and slightly below the middle score of the scale, respectively. This indicates that the respondents on average experience workaholism between *sometimes* (2) and *often* (3).

Table 1Descriptive Statistics of Study Variables

Variables	Min	Max	Mean	SD
Job autonomy	1	5		
Item 1			3.79	0.90
Item 2			4.06	0.77
Item 3			4.17	0.74
Item 4			3.64	0.83
Supervisor support	1	5		
Item 1			3.88	1.02
Item 2			3.75	1.06
Item 3			3.34	1.17
Workload	1	5		
Item 1			3.24	1.06
Item 2			3.60	0.99
Item 3			3.78	0.94
Role conflict	1	5		
Item 1			2.90	1.06
Item 2			2.78	1.06
Item 3			2.37	0.96
Work engagement	0	6		
Item 1			4.58	1.14
Item 2			4.56	1.16
Item 3			4.86	1.26
Item 4			4.93	1.15
Item 5			4.83	1.20
Item 6			4.86	1.25

Item 7			4.92	1.10	
Item 8			4.66	1.19	
Item 9			3.97	1.49	
Working excessively	1	4			
Item 1			2.70	0.79	
Item 2			2.49	0.85	
Item 3			2.88	0.78	
Item 4			2.27	0.91	
Item 5			2.18	0.90	
Working compulsively	1	4			
Item 1			2.13	0.84	
Item 2			2.77	0.81	
Item 3			2.12	0.86	
Item 4			2.09	0.94	
Item 5			1.82	0.85	

Note. SD = standard deviation.

The correlations between the study variables are displayed in Table 2. The highest correlation was found between working excessively and working compulsively (r = .68, p < .001), followed by working excessively and workload (r = .63, p < .001). There was no significant correlation between working excessively and autonomy, work engagement and role conflict, or working compulsively and work engagement.

Correlations of Study Var	iables						
Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Job autonomy	1						
2. Supervisor support	.48**	1					
3. Workload	16**	18**	1				
4. Role conflict	47**	41**	.46**	1			
5. Work engagement	.38**	.32**	.01	28**	1		
6. Working excessively	01	08**	.63**	.30**	.18**	1	
7. Working compulsively	14**	15**	.45**	.33**	.01	.68**	1

 Table 2

 Correlations of Study Variables

Note. **p < .001

PLS-SEM Analysis

Measurement model. Before evaluating the structural model, the reflective measurement models were evaluated.

Internal consistency reliability. The composite reliability of the study's constructs is displayed in Table 3. As shown, all variables exhibit values between 0.84 and 0.94, which

indicate good internal consistency reliability.

Table 3

Indicator reliability. The indicators of the constructs job autonomy, supervisor support, workload, and role conflict all show loadings above the recommended value of 0.70 (see Table 3). Indicator 9 on the Work Engagement scale had an outer loading of 0.67 and was therefore below the recommended threshold. Since the value was close to 0.70, and the composite reliability and AVE (as accounted for below) were satisfactory, the item was not removed. Two of the indicators of the workaholism dimension working excessively (i.e., item 4 and 5), and one indicator of the workaholism dimension working compulsively (i.e., item 2), showed outer loadings below the recommended 0.70 value. Hair and colleagues (2014) only recommended removing items from a scale when it increases the composite reliability and the AVE value above the suggested threshold. As shown above, the composite reliability of both dimensions of workaholism dimensions were above the recommended threshold. Since the loadings were well above the critical value for elimination (i.e., below 0.40; Hair et al., 2011), they were not excluded from the scale. Thus, it was decided to keep all original items.

Convergent validity. As shown in Table 3, all constructs exhibit AVE values above the required minimum level of 0.50 and therefore display high levels of convergent validity.

Measurement Model			
Variables	Loading	Composite reliability	AVE
Job autonomy		0.86	0.62
Item 1	0.82		
Item 2	0.75		
Item 3	0.76		
Item 4	0.80		
Supervisor support		0.92	0.80
Item 1	0.90		
Item 2	0.92		
Item 3	0.86		
Workload		0.87	0.72
Item 1	0.83		
Item 2	0.85		
Item 3	0.88		
Role conflict		0.84	0.63
Item 1	0.80		
Item 2	0.82		
Item 3	0.76		

Work engagement		0.94	0.65
Item 1	0.78		
Item 2	0.81		
Item 3	0.80		
Item 4	0.90		
Item 5	0.89		
Item 6	0.81		
Item 7	0.85		
Item 8	0.73		
Item 9	0.67		
Working excessively		0.86	0.55
Item 1	0.83		
Item 2	0.78		
Item 3	0.74		
Item 4	0.69		
Item 5	0.66		
Working compulsively		0.85	0.53
Item 1	0.76		
Item 2	0.57		
Item 3	0.82		
Item 4	0.73		
Item 5	0.75		

Discriminant validity. As shown in Table 4, the square root of each construct's AVE is larger than its highest correlation with any other construct. This provides evidence for discriminant validity for each construct.

Table 4

Di	Discriminant Validity Test of Study Variables							
	Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1.	Job autonomy	1						
2.	Supervisor support	0.48	1					
3.	Workload	-0.16	-0.18	1				
4.	Role conflict	-0.47	-0.41	0.46	1			
5.	Work engagement	0.40	0.33	-0.00	-0.29	1		
6.	Working excessively	-0.01	-0.08	0.65	0.31	0.15	1	
7.	Working compulsively	-0.17	-0.17	0.46	0.35	-0.06	0.65	1
	VAVE	0.78	0.89	0.85	0.79	0.81	0.74	0.73

Structural model. Four of the study's hypotheses were tested through the examination of the structural model, as displayed in Table 5. Hypothesis 1 predicted that the job autonomy and supervisor support resources were positively related to work engagement. The results gave strong support to the hypothesis, where job autonomy (b = .28, p < .001) had a stronger effect on work engagement than supervisor support (b = .17, p < .001). Further, the results supported Hypothesis 3, which predicted that role conflict (b = -.14, p < .001) was negatively, and workload (b = .13, p < .001) was positively, related to work engagement. In all, autonomy, supervisor support, conflict, workload, gender, and age accounted for 22% of the variance in work engagement. Job autonomy ($f^2 = .07$) had the largest effect on work engagement.

Hypothesis 2 predicted that the role conflict and workload job demands were positively related to workaholism. The results showed that workload was related to both working excessively (b = .65, p < .001) and working compulsively (b = .40, p < .001). Role conflict was found to be related to working excessively (b = .07, p < .001) and working compulsively (b = .12, p < .001). Thus, Hypothesis 2 was supported.

Hypothesis 5 predicted that supervisor support was negatively related to workaholism, whereas autonomy was positively related to workaholism. The hypothesis received partial support, as autonomy was positively related to working excessively (b = .12, p < .001) but had a weak negative relationship with working compulsively (b = -.05, p < .001). Moreover, supervisor support was not significantly related to working excessively (b = .00, ns.), but did show a weak negative relation to working compulsively (b = -.05, p < .001). In total, autonomy, supervisor support, conflict, workload, gender, and age explained 44% of the variance in working excessively and 26% of the variance in working compulsively. Workload had the largest effect on both working excessively ($f^2 = .58$) and working compulsively ($f^2 = .17$).

In the examination of the structural model, age and gender were controlled for. The results indicated that men (b = -.03, p < .001) experience less work engagement than women and that work engagement increases with age (b = .12, p < .001). Regarding workaholism, the results indicated that men display more excessive (b = .05, p < .001) and compulsive (b = .03, p < .001) working than women and that excessive (b = -.05, p < .001) and compulsive (b = -.18, p < .001) working decreases with age.

Variables	Path Coefficient	R^2	f^2	95% CI
Work engagement		.22		
Job autonomy (H1)	.28**		.07	[.26, .30]
Supervisor support (H1)	.17**		.03	[.15, .19]
Role conflict (H3)	14**		.02	[17,12]
Workload (H3)	.13**		.02	[.11, .15]
Gender	03**		.00	[05,02]
Age	.12**		.02	[.10, .14]
Working excessively		.44		
Job autonomy (H5)	.12**		.02	[.10, .14]
Supervisor support (H5)	.00		.00	[02, .02]
Role conflict (H2)	.07**		.01	[.05, .09]
Workload (H2)	.65**		.58	[.63, .66]
Gender	.05**		.00	[.04, .06]
Age	05**		.00	[06,03]
Working compulsively		.27		
Job autonomy (H5)	05**		.00	[07,03]
Supervisor support (H5)	05**		.00	[07,03]
Role conflict (H2)	.12**		.01	[.10, .14]
Workload (H2)	.40**		.17	[.38, .42]
Gender	.03**		.00	[.02, .05]
Age	18**		.04	[19,16]

Table 5Main Effects of Study Variables on Work Engagement and Workaholism

Note. **p < .001, two-tailed; CI = confidence interval.

Moderated PLS-SEM

In order to test the interaction hypotheses, a moderated PLS-SEM was conducted. The results are displayed in Table 6. Hypothesis 4 predicted that workload would negatively moderate the relationship between supervisor support and work engagement, and positively moderate the relationship between job autonomy and work engagement. The results did not show any significant moderation effect.

The last hypothesis, Hypothesis 6, predicted that job autonomy would negatively moderate the relationship between role conflict and workaholism, and positively moderate the relationship between workload and workaholism. The hypothesis was partially supported, as job autonomy negatively moderated the relationship between role conflict and both working excessively (b = -.08, p < .001) and working compulsively (b = -.03, p < .01). Furthermore, job autonomy was found to negatively moderate the relationship between workload and

working compulsively (b = -.04, p < .001), which thus contradicts the hypothesis prediction. Lastly, job autonomy did not significantly moderate the relationship between workload and working excessively.

Table 6

Interaction Effects of Study Variables on Work Engagement and Workaholism

Variables	Interaction Effect	95% CI
Work engagement (H4)		
Supervisor support × Workload	02	[07, .02]
Job autonomy \times Workload	.01	[01, .05]
Working excessively (H6)		
Role conflict \times Job autonomy	08**	[10,06]
Workload \times Job autonomy	01	[03, .01]
Working compulsively (H6)		
Role conflict \times Job autonomy	03*	[06,01]
Workload \times Job autonomy	04**	[06,02]

Note. *p < .01, two-tailed; **p < .001, two-tailed; CI = confidence interval.

Discussion

This study aimed to investigate how the same job demands and resources are related to both workaholism and work engagement. The results demonstrated that job resource autonomy was positively related to work engagement and positively related to working excessively. Furthermore, the job resource of supervisor support was found to be positively related to work engagement and negatively related to working compulsively. The job demand workload was positively related to work engagement and both dimensions of workaholism. Finally, job demand role conflict was positively related to both dimensions of workaholism and negatively related to work engagement.

In addition to the main effects, this study also investigated interaction effects. The results did not show any significant interaction effect of workload on the relationship between either job autonomy and work engagement, or supervisor support and work engagement. Furthermore, the results showed that autonomy negatively moderated the positive relationship between role conflict and both dimensions of workaholism, as well as the positive relationship between workload and working compulsively.

These results will be compared with earlier empirical findings and the JD-R model, followed by a discussion of the theoretical and practical implications, as well as the limitations of the study and suggestions for future research.

Heavy Work Investment as Two Dual Processes

Work engagement and workaholism are considered as two constructs of heavy work investment, the former being considered positive and the latter negative (Salanova et al., 2014). The study's first hypothesis predicted that job resources were positively related to work engagement. As predicted, job autonomy (b = .28, p < .001) and supervisor support (b = .17, p < .001) were positively related to work engagement, in accordance with earlier research (Crawford et al., 2010; Halbeslesen, 2010; Hakanen et al., 2006). These findings support the motivational process of the JD-R model, which suggests that job resources can have a motivational role and create work engagement. This was found to apply to Norwegian academics, among whom job autonomy had a considerably stronger effect on work engagement than supervisor support. These findings are in accordance with earlier research, which found that job control is the most important predictor of work engagement was lower than found in earlier research (e.g., Caesens et al., 2014). Since the most important resources for employees are thought to depend on the work environment (Bakker & Demerouti, 2016), one

plausible explanation may be that social support was a less important resource in this context because of the particular characteristics of the sample. As academics are often highly qualified in their own field, supervisor support may not be able to provide the skills and experience (Ng & Sorensen, 2008) that are usually required to achieve work goals (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Supervisor support may thus not be able to foster an extrinsic motivational role, as described by the JD-R model (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Instead, it may play an intrinsic role, in terms of satisfying a need for belonging (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2004). Thus, one explanation for the weaker relationship in the present sample between supervisor support and work engagement compared to earlier studies may be that such support primarily plays an intrinsic motivational role.

The study's next hypothesis predicted that job demands were positively related to workaholism. The hypothesis was supported, as a positive relationship was found between workload and both dimensions of workaholism, as well as role conflict and both dimensions of workaholism. These findings are in accordance with earlier research that found that job demands are positively related to workaholism (e.g., Schaufeli, Taris & van Rhenen, 2008). The strong link between job demands and workaholism may be caused by workaholic employees' tendency to go so far as to actively create more work for themselves, making their work more complicated than necessary, and refusing to delegate work (Machlowitz, 1980, cited in Schaufeli et al., 2008).

The findings indicate that when employees experienced a heavy workload, they tended to work more excessively (b = .65, p < .001) and compulsively (b = .40, p < .001). Workload had a considerably stronger effect on working excessively than on working compulsively. As found by Schaufeli and colleagues (2008), the working excessively scale is more related to quantitative demands (e.g., work overload and overwork) than the working compulsively scale. This may explain why workload has a stronger relationship with working excessively (i.e., the behavioral dimension) than working compulsively (i.e., the cognitive dimension). The results also demonstrated that role conflict was positively related to working excessively (b = .07, p < .001) and working compulsively (b = .12, p < .001). These findings are in accordance with Schaufeli and colleagues (2008), who found that qualitative demands (i.e., mental and emotional demands) such as role conflict are important predictors for both scales.

Taken together, the job demands workload and role conflict were significantly related to workaholism. These findings suggest that the JD-R model can be applied to workaholism as a negative well-being construct, and thus be compatible with the health-impairment process. As workaholism is characterized by high levels of energy (Salanova et al., 2014), and

health impairment process leads to a depletion of energy (Bakker & Demerouti, 2016), it may at first glance seem a bad fit. However, workaholic employees tend to use up their energy reservoir (Schaufeli et al., 2009a), which leads to an increase in health problems (e.g., Shimazu et al., 2010) including burnout (e.g., Hakanen, Peeters & Schaufeli, 2017). Hence, although workaholism has usually been treated as a personal resource in the context of the JD-R model (Bakker & Demerouti, 2016), the model can be extended to include workaholism as a mediator between job characteristics and job performance.

As discussed above, the two constructs of heavy work investment seem to relate to the two dual processes in the JD-R model (i.e., the motivational and the health-impairment process). It would seem initially that work engagement and workaholism have different antecedents, job resources being related to work engagement and job demands being related to workaholism. However, investigation of the study's next hypotheses shows the distinction between the antecedents to be less clear.

Hindrance and Challenging Demands

The study's third hypothesis predicted that workload was positively related to work engagement and that role conflict was negatively related to work engagement. The results supported the hypothesis, and were in accordance with the study by Crawford et al. (2010), who found that hindrance demands (i.e., role conflict) were negatively related to work engagement, and challenging demands (i.e., workload) were positively related to work engagement. The results of the present study among Norwegian academics indicate that the two demands affect work engagement differently. To elaborate, role conflict may lead to a passive, emotion-focused coping style, as the employee may believe that no effort will be sufficient to cope with the role conflict. Therefore, he or she may devote energy to coping with frustration rather than the conflict, which may lead to decreased work engagement (Crawford et al., 2010). Hence, role conflict is in line with the definition of job demands, as role conflict requires "sustained physical and/or psychological effort" (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). Furthermore, workload can have the potential to promote an active, problem-focused coping style that increases the employee's willingness to invest energy to cope with the workload, and thus lead to an increase in engagement. Accordingly, workload can be argued to function as a job resource, as, by definition, job resources can be "functional in achieving work goals" (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). This supports Schaufeli and Taris's (2014) discussion, which states that job demands may be viewed as resources if they are valued positively.

The study's fourth hypothesis related to how workload moderated the relation between job resources and work engagement. The hypothesis predicted that workload would negatively moderate the relationship between social support and work engagement and thus act as a hindrance demand, whereas it would positively moderate the relationship between autonomy and work engagement and thus act as a challenging demand. The results did not show any significant interaction effects and thus did not support the JD-R model's assumption that job resources especially affect work engagement when job demands are high (i.e., the so-called coping hypothesis; Bakker & Demerouti, 2016). Several studies that have tested the interaction between job demand and resources have failed to find any significant interaction effects. This may imply that interaction effects are hard to detect (Hu, Schaufeli & Taris, 2011).

In sum, the results indicate that job demands can relate differently to work engagement, depending of the nature of the demand. If the demand is considered a challenge, it can increase engagement, and if it is considered a hindrance, it can decrease engagement. These findings are in accordance with the refinements of the JD-R model, which suggest that job demands can play a motivational role (Schaufeli & Taris, 2014). Interestingly, a similar distinction in the nature of demands seems to be the case for job resources as well, as found in the study's next hypotheses.

Buffering and Threatening Resources

The study's fifth hypothesis predicted that job autonomy was positively related to workaholism and that supervisor support was negatively related to workaholism. This was partially supported. Results showed that supervisor support had only a weak negative relationship with working compulsively (b = -.05, p < .001), and no statistical significant relationship with working excessively. This is in line with an earlier study that found that supervisor support was negatively related to working compulsively but had no significant relationship to working excessively (Schaufeli et al., 2008).

Furthermore, the findings indicated that job autonomy was positively related to working excessively (b = .12, p < .001), and weakly negatively related to working compulsively (b = -.05, p < .001). These results provide an interesting insight into the concept of workaholism. First, as job resources are thought to have the potential to energize (Schaufeli, 2013), the positive relationship between job autonomy and working excessively can be one reason why workaholism is characterized by high levels of energy. Furthermore, studies have suggested that workaholism is related to a lack of resources (Schaufeli, Taris &

Bakker, 2008). However, researchers have begun questioning whether job autonomy might promote workaholic tendencies (e.g., Hakanen & Peeters, 2015). This is supported by the findings in the present study, which indicate that job autonomy can increase excessive working. Since workaholic tendencies are due to an obsessive internal drive, and not to external factors (such as financial problems or career advancement; Schaufeli, Shimazu et al., 2009), some degree of autonomy may be necessary in order for the employee to be able to act out his or her drive toward excessive working. The positive relationship between autonomy and working excessively raises the question of whether autonomy should be considered a threatening resource or a demand. As argued by Schaufeli and Taris (2014), a negatively appraised resource (i.e., a threatening resource) could be conceptualized as a demand, as job demands are by definition "aspects of the job that require sustained physical or psychological effort."

The study's sixth hypothesis aimed to explore how job autonomy would moderate the relationship between job demands and workaholism. It was predicted that job autonomy would negatively moderate the relationship between role conflict and workaholism and thus act as a buffering resource, and positively moderate the relationship between overload and workaholism and thus act as a threatening resource. The results showed that autonomy negatively moderated the relationship between role conflict and both dimensions of workaholism. This indicates that having control over one's work can make it easier to handle conflict between different roles at work and thus reduce excessive and compulsive working. Contrary to the hypothesis, job autonomy was found to negatively moderate the relationship between workload and working compulsively. This result supports the notion of job autonomy as a buffering resource. Here, job autonomy seems to buffer the effect of job demand on workaholism and thus provide support for the buffer hypothesis on workaholism, as found by Molino et al. (2016).

The findings raise some questions about the nature of job autonomy in relation to workaholism. Autonomy seemed to act both as a buffering and a threatening resource in relation to workaholism. Most noticeably, job autonomy had a positive relationship with working excessively and did not significantly buffer the relationship between workload and working excessively. This indicates that autonomy does not act as a buffering resource in relation to the experience of a heavy workload or the act of working excessively. Future research is needed to unravel the ambiguous results of the relationship between autonomy and these variables.

Theoretical Implications

The findings from this study challenge some of the propositions of the JD-R model. Schaufeli and Taris (2014) have argued that, in order to understand both the motivational and health-impairment process, these two factors should be studied jointly, as in this study. As discussed above, the results indicate that job demands predict workaholism and job resources predict work engagement, hence supporting the health-impairment and motivational process of the JD-R model, respectively. In addition, supervisor support and role conflict related differently to the two heavy work investment constructs, supervisor support being negatively related to working compulsively and role conflict being negatively related to work engagement. This implies that the two processes are instigated by different antecedents. Yet, considering how autonomy and workload were related to both heavy work investment constructs, it blurs the distinction between the antecedents for the two processes (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). However, the apparently unclear distinction between the motivational process and the health-impairment process may be due to a lack of a coherent definition of job demands and resources, as discussed below.

The job demand workload, which was found to relate positively to workaholism, was also found to be positively related to work engagement. This raises the question of the nature of job demands and resources. Since workload is found to have a positive relation to work engagement, Crawford and colleagues (2010) define it as a challenging demand, since it triggers an active, problem-focused coping style and the employee's willingness to invest energy in efforts to meet this workload. This definition is in accordance with that of job resources as being "functional in achieving work goals" (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007); it can thus play an extrinsic motivational role, as it fosters the willingness to dedicate one's effort and abilities to the work task (Meijman & Mulder, 1998).

Similarly to how job demands can relate differently to work engagement, the job resource autonomy, which was found to be positively related to work engagement, was also positively related to the workaholism dimension of working excessively. This gives empirical support to Schaufeli and Taris's (2014) inquiry into whether job resources can be perceived as threatening. The authors propose that threatening resources are resources that are valued negatively and thus can be defined as a job demand, since they require "sustained physical and/or psychological effort or skills, and are therefore associated with certain physiological and/or psychological costs" (Bakker & Demerouti, 2007). The same applies to autonomy in relation to working excessively.

Crawford et al. (2010) argue that a shortcoming of the JD-R model is that it lacks

theory to account for the variation in the way in which job demands can affect work engagement differently. This argument can be expanded to job resources as well. The JD-R model does not account for the variation in the way in which job resources can affect workaholism. This is potentially a greater issue when studying well-being constructs that are similar, such as the two heavy work investment constructs. The JD-R model has traditionally been used to test work engagement as a mediator in the motivational process and burnout as a mediator in the health-impairment process (Bakker & Demerouti, 2016). Although work engagement and workaholism are found to be independent constructs, they are both characterized by high levels of energy (Salanova et al., 2014) and share the behavioral component of "working hard" (Schaufeli, Shimazu, et al., 2009). These similarities may explain why work engagement and workaholism could be predicted by the same job characteristics. Thus, when the JD-R model is expanded to more similar constructs, such as work engagement and workaholism, the model does not seem to be able to account for the different effects of job resources on the health-impairment process.

To my knowledge, this is the first empirical study to provide evidence that job resources can have variable effects on the health-impairment process. This challenges the current definitions of job demands and resources in the JD-R model, and raises the question of whether job characteristics should be categorized as job demands and resources according to how they are valued, and whether the JD-R model needs to account for the way in which resources can act as threatening.

Practical Implications

The findings of this study can have implications for practitioners who are responsible for occupational health. As argued by Shimazu and colleagues (2015), work engagement should be promoted and workaholism should be prevented, as the two constructs predict opposite outcomes for future well-being and performance. This study provides some insight into the antecedents of the two heavy work investment constructs.

First, role conflict was found to be positively related to workaholism and negatively related to work engagement. This implies that role conflict does not provide any functional role for occupational well-being and should therefore be prevented. The results of the study found that autonomy could buffer the impact of role conflict on workaholism. This indicates that increasing employees' autonomy can be a means of reducing the influence of role conflicts on workaholic tendencies.

However, the results demonstrated that autonomy was a predictor not only of work

engagement but also of working excessively. Simultaneously, autonomy was found to buffer the impact of role conflict on workaholism. These findings raise the question whether autonomy is a resource that should be promoted by practitioners. A plausible approach to promote work engagement and prevent workaholic tendencies when job autonomy is present may be to increase other job resources. As work engagement and workaholism do not typically co-occur in individuals (Mäkikangas et al., 2013), an increase in job resources can promote work engagement. Since workaholism is mainly found to be related to a lack of resources (e.g., Schaufeli et al., 2008), an increase in other job resources can be a fruitful approach to reducing workaholic tendencies, even when job autonomy is present.

Finally, workload was found to be the strongest predictor for working excessively and working compulsively. Since workload among academics tends to increase (Houston et al., 2006), this highlights the importance of actively managing the workload. A recent study has found that work overload initiated by the organization has more unfavorable outcomes for the employee than work overload initiated by the employee (Laurence et al., 2012). Regarding the moderate correlation between role conflict and workload (r = .46, p < .001), one method of reducing the workload initiated by the organization may be to reduce role conflict due to the triple demands of research, education, and administration among academics (Boyd et al., 2010).

Methodological Limitations

Although the findings of this study have yielded an interesting insight into how the same antecedents relate to work engagement and workaholism, the study has some limitations.

Since the study used a cross-sectional design (i.e., data collected at a single time point) no conclusions regarding the cause–effect relationship between the variables can be drawn (Field, 2009). For instance, the results indicated that workload was positively related to workaholism. However, the possibility cannot be excluded that workaholic employees create more demands for themselves and therefore experience a higher workload, rather than that workload predicts workaholic tendencies. Thus, longitudinal research is required to reveal causal relationships between the variables.

Another limitation is data collection by self-reporting. Self-reporting can inflate the relationships between the study's variables, owing to a common method variance (i.e., variance because of the measurement method; Podsakoff, MacKenzie, Lee, & Podsakoff, 2003). For instance, common method variance from self-reporting can occur due to a

consistency motif (respondents' tendency to maintain consistency in their response) or social desirability (respondents' tendency to present themselves in a favorable light; Podsakoff et al., 2003). However, a recent study found that ratings from self-reports and coworker reports on the overall scales of work engagement and workaholism were largely in agreement (Mazzetti, Schaufeli, & Guglielmi, 2016). Bakker and Demerouti (2016) emphasize that future research aimed at testing the JD-R model should use ratings by others to capture more objectively how job characteristics influence well-being.

Another limitation of this study is its homogeneous sample. The characteristics of the sample limit its generalizability beyond highly educated employees in knowledge-intensive sectors in Nordic countries. On the other hand, it can be considered a strength that the current sample captures a big proportion of the same population and can thus be argued to be representative for Norwegian academics.

Finally, since this study conducted PLS-SEM analysis, there is also a potential for PLS-SEM bias. The PLS-SEM algorithm uses all the variance from the indicators that can help explain the latent variables, which also involves some degree of measurement error (Hair et al., 2014). This error is thus present in the model estimates. The bias can cause the relationships in the measurement model to be overestimated and the relationships in the structural model to be underestimated. However, simulation studies have shown that PLS-SEM bias is usually very low (Reinartz, Haenlein, & Henseler, 2009). Although PLS-SEM estimates can be biased, PLS-SEM exhibits higher levels of statistical power than CB-SEM. Hence, PLS-SEM is better at identifying population relationships than CB-SEM (Hair et al., 2014).

Suggestions for Future Research

Several studies have highlighted the importance of promoting work engagement and preventing workaholism, as the two constructs have opposite relations with well-being (e.g., Shimazu et al., 2015). Future research should therefore explore further how the same job demands and resources can affect both work engagement and workaholism. It is of practical importance to unravel the antecedents of heavy work investment and how the same job characteristics (e.g., workload and autonomy) positively relate to both constructs. In theoretical terms, it is important to investigate how job demands and job resources are valued positively or negatively. Thereafter, researchers should investigate whether job characteristics should be defined as a job demand or resource according to how they are valued (positively or negatively) or how they appear to the employee (hindrance or challenging demand, buffering

or threatening resource).

A fruitful approach to investigating how job demands and resources are valued in relation to work engagement and workaholism may be to use the bottom-up approach of the JD-R. In recent years, the JD-R model has incorporated how employees actively affect the characteristics of their own job through job crafting and self-undermining behavior (Bakker & Demerouti, 2016). While job crafting refers to self-initiated changes that employees make to the levels of their job demands and job resources, in order to better align these with their own abilities and preferences (Tims & Bakker, 2010), self-undermining refers to behavior that creates obstacles that may undermine their performance (Bakker & Costa, 2014). These approaches may give a better insight into when job demands (e.g., workload) and resources (e.g., autonomy) are valued positively or negatively by the employee, and thus how it can affect work engagement and workaholism.

Conclusion

This study aimed to investigate how the same job demands and resources were related to both work engagement and workaholism. The results demonstrated that job resources (i.e., autonomy and supervisor support) were positively related to work engagement, and job demands (i.e., workload and role conflict) were positively related to work aholism. In addition, the job demand workload was also positively related to work engagement, and the job resource autonomy was positively related to the working excessively dimension of workaholism. The findings indicate that the motivational and health-impairment processes of the JD-R model are not purely affected by, respectively, job resources and demands, using the current definitions. To my knowledge, this is the first empirical study to challenge the JD-R model's categorizations of a job characteristic as a job demand or resource. Future research should investigate how the job characteristics job autonomy and workload are related to both work engagement and workaholism, as this can be important knowledge for practitioners who are responsible for occupational health.

References

- Becker, T. E. (2005). Potential Problems in the Statistical Control of Variables in
 Organizational Research: A Qualitative Analysis With Recommendations.
 Organizational Research Methods, 8(3). 274-289. doi:10.1177/1094428105278021
- Bakker, A. B., & Costa, P. L. (2014). Chronic job burnout and daily functioning: A theoretical analysis. *Burnout Research*, 1(3), 112-119. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burn.2014.04.003
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2007). The Job Demands-Resources model: state of the art *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 22(3), 309-328. doi:10.1108/0268394071073311
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2008). Towards a model of work engagement. *Career Development International*, *13*(3), 209-223. doi:10.1108/13620430810870476
- Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2016). Job Demands–Resources Theory: Taking Stock and Looking Forward. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, doi:10.1037/ocp0000056
- Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., & Euwema, M. C. (2005). Job resources buffer the impact of job demands on burnout. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *10*(2), 170-180. doi:10.1037/1076-8998.10.2.170
- Bakker, A. B., Hakanen, J. J., Demerouti, E., & Xanthopoulou, D. (2007). Job resources boost work engagement, particularly when job demands are high. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(2), 274-284. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.99.2.274
- Bakker, A. B., & Oerlemans, W. (2011). Subjective well-being in organizations. In K. S.
 Cameron & G. M. Spreitzer (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Positive Organizational Scholarship* (pp. 178-189). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Balducci C., Avanzi L., Consiglio C., Fraccaroli F., Schaufeli W. (2015). A cross-national study on the psychometric quality of the Italian version of the Dutch Work Addiction Scale (DUWAS). *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*. doi:10.1027/1015-5759/a000300
- Boyd, C. M., Bakker, A. B., Pignata, S., Winefield, A. H., Gillespie, N., & Stough, C. (2011).
 A Longitudinal Test of the Job Demands-Resources Model among Australian
 University Academics. *Applied Psychology*, 60(1), 112-140. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.2010.00429.x

- Caesens, G., Stinglhamber, F., & Luypaert, G. (2014). The impact of work engagement and workaholism on well-being: The role of work-related social support. *Career Development International*, 19(7), 813-835. doi:10.1108/CDI-09-2013-0114
- Christian, M. S., Garza, A. S., & Slaughter, J. E. (2011). Work engagement: A quantitative review and test of its relations with task and contextual performance. *Personnel Psychology*, 64(1), 89-136. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.2010.01203.x
- Clark, M. A., Michel, J. S., Zhdanova, L., Pui, S. Y., & Baltes, B. B. (2016). All Work and No Play? A Meta-Analytic Examination of the Correlates and Outcomes of Workaholism. *Journal of Management*, 42(7), 1836-1873. doi:10.1177/0149206314522301
- Crawford, E. R., LePine, J. A., & Rich, B. L. (2010). Linking job demands and resources to employee engagement and burnout: A theoretical extension and meta-analytic test. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(5), 834–848. doi: 10.1037/a0019364.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). *Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior*. New York: Plenum.
- Del Libano, M., Llorens, S., Salanoval, M., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2012). About the dark and bright sides of self-efficacy: workaholism and work engagement. *Spanish Journal of Psychology*, *15*(2), 688-701.
- Demerouti E, Bakker A (2011) The job demands-resources model: challenges for future research. *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology*, *37*(2), 1–9. doi:10.4102
- Derks, D., & Bakker A. B. (2010). The impact of e-mail communication on organizational life. *Cyberpsychology: Journal of Psychosocial Research on Cyberspace*, 4(1).
- Falco, A., Girardi, D., Kravina, L., Trifiletti, E., Bartolucci, G. B., Capozza, D., & De Carlo, N. A. (2013). The Mediating Role of Psychophysic Strain in the Relationship Between Workaholism, Job Performance, and Sickness Absence: A Longitudinal Study. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 55(11), 1255-1261.

Field, A. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS. London: Sage Publications.

- Gaskin, J., (2016). *Data Screening, Gaskination's StatWiki*. Retrieved from: <u>http://statwiki.kolobkreations.com</u>
- Gillespie, N. A., Walsh, M., Winefield, A. H., Dua, J., & Stough, C. (2001). Occupational stress in universities: Staff perceptions of the causes, consequences and moderators of stress. *Work & Stress*, 15(1), 53-72. doi:10.1080/02678370117944
- Griffiths M. D. (2011). Workaholism: A 21st century addiction. *The Psychologist: Bulletin of the British Psychological Society*. 24(10), 740–744.

- Hair, J. F., Hult, Tomas, G., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2014). A Primer on Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM). London: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., & Sarstedt, M. (2011). PLS-SEM: Indeed a Silver Bullet. Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice, 19(2), 139-152.
- Hakanen, J. J., Bakker, A. B., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2006). Burnout and work engagement among teachers. *Journal of School Psychology*, 43(6), 495-513. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2005.11.001
- Hakanen, J. J., & Peeters, M. (2015). How Do Work Engagement, Workaholism, and the Work-to-Family Interface Affect Each Other? A 7-Year Follow-Up Study. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 57(6), 601-609. doi:10.1097/jom.00000000000457
- Hakanen, J. J., Peeters, M. C. W., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2017). Different Types of Employee
 Well-Being Across Time and Their Relationships With Job Crafting. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*. doi:10.1037/ocp0000081
- Hakanen, J. J., Rodríguez-Sánchez, A. M., & Perhoniemi, R. (2012). Too good to be true? Similarities and differences between engagement and workaholism among Finnish judges. *Ciencia & Trabajo*, 14, 72–80.
- Hakanen, J. J., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2012). Do burnout and work engagement predict depressive symptoms and life satisfaction? A three-wave seven-year prospective study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 141(2-3), 415-424. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2012.02.043
- Halbesleben, J. R. B. (2010). A meta-analysis of work engagement: Relationships with burnout, demands, resources, and consequences. In A. B. Bakker, & M. P. Leiter (Eds.). *Work engagement: A handbook of essential theory and research* (pp. 102-117). New York: Psychology Press.
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2001). The influence of culture, community, and the nested-self in the stress process: Advancing conservation of resources theory. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 50, 337–421.
- Houston, D., Meyer, L. H., & Paewai, S. (2006). Academic Staff Workloads and Job Satisfaction: Expectations and values in academe. *Journal of Higher Education Policy* and Management, 28(1), 17-30. doi:10.1080/13600800500283734
- Hu, Q., Schaufeli, W. B., & Taris, T. W. (2011). The Job Demands–Resources model: An analysis of additive and joint effects of demands and resources. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 79(1), 181-190. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2010.12.009

- Idris, M.K., (2011). Over time effects of role stress on psychological strain among malaysian public university academics. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 2(9). 154-161.
- Kahn, R. L., & Byosiere, P. (1992). Stress in organizations. In M. D. Dunnette, &. L. M.
 Hough (Eds.). *Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology* (pp. 571-650).
 Palo Alto: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Karasek, R. (1979). Job demands, job decision latitude and mental strain: Implications for job redesign. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24, 285–308.
- Karasek, R.A. (1998). Demand/Control Model: a social, emotional, and physiological approach to stress risk and active behaviour development. In J. M. Stellman (Ed.), *Encyclopaedia of Occupational Health And Safety*, (pp. 34.06-34.14). Geneve: International Labour Office.
- Karasek, R., & Theorell, T. (1990). *Healthy work: Stress, productivity, and the reconstruction of working life*. New York, NY: Basic Books
- Laurence, G. A., Fried, Y., & Raub, S. (2016). Evidence for the need to distinguish between self-initiated and organizationally imposed overload in studies of work stress. *Work & Stress*, *30*(4), 337-355. doi:10.1080/02678373.2016.1253045
- Lindström, K., Elo, A.-L., Skogstad, A., Dallner, M., Gamberale, F., Hottinen V., Knardahl
 S., & Ørhede, E. (2000). User's Guide for the QPSNordic: General Nordic
 Questionnaire for Psychological and Social Factors at Work. (603). Copenhagen:
 TemaNord
- Lowry, P. B., & Gaskin, J. (2014). Partial Least Squares (PLS) Structural Equation Modeling (SEM) for Building and Testing Behavioral Causal Theory: When to Choose It and How to Use It. *IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication*, *57*(2), 123-156.
- Maslach, C., Schaufeli, W. B., & Leiter, M. P. (2001). Job burnout. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52, 397-422. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.397
- Mauno, S., Kinnunen, U., & Ruokolainen, M. (2007). Job demands and resources as antecedents of work engagement: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 70(1), 149-171. doi:http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2006.09.002
- Mazzetti, G., Schaufeli, W. B., & Guglielmi, D. (2014). Are workaholics born or made?
 Relations of workaholism with person characteristics and overwork climate. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 21(3), 227-254. doi:10.1037/a0035700

- Mazzetti, G., Schaufeli, W. B., & Guglielmi, D. (2016). Are Workaholism and Work Engagement in the Eye of the Beholder? *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 0(0), 1-11. doi:10.1027/1015-5759/a000318
- Meijman, T.F. and Mulder, G. (1998) Psychological Aspects of Workload. In P. J. D. Drenth,
 & H. Thierry (Eds.). *Handbook of Work and Organizational Psychology* (pp. 5-33).
 Hove: Psychology Press.
- Molino, M., Bakker, A. B., & Ghislieri, C. (2016). The role of workaholism in the job demands-resources model. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 29*(4), 400-414. doi:10.1080/10615806.2015.1070833
- Mäkikangas, A., Schaufeli, W., Tolvanen, A., & Feldt, T. (2013). Engaged managers are not workaholics: Evidence from a longitudinal personcentered analysis. *Revista de Psicología del Trabajo y de las Organizaciones, 29*(3), 135-143. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.5093/tr2013a19
- Ng, T., W., H., & Sorensen, K., L. (2008). Toward a Further Understanding of the Relationships Between Perceptions of Support and Work Attitudes - A Meta-Analysis. *Group & Organization Management*, 33(3), 243-268. doi:10.1177/1059601107313307
- Ng, T. W. H., Sorensen, K. L., & Feldman, D. C. (2007). Dimensions, antecedents, and consequences of workaholism: a conceptual integration and extension. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 28(1), 111-136. doi:10.1002/job.424
- Näswall, K., Låstad, L., Vetting, T. S., Larsson, R., Richter, A., & Sverke, M. (2010). Job insecurity from a gender perspective: Data collection and psychometric properties Report. *Reports from the Department of Psychology, Stockholm University*.
- Oates, W. (1971). Confessions of a workaholic: The facts about work addiction. New York: World.
- Pejtersen, J. H., Kristensen, T. S., Borg, V., & Bjørner, J. B. (2010). The second version of the Copenhagen Psychosocial Questionnaire (COPSOQII). *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 38(3), 8-24.
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J. Y., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research: a critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88(5), 879-903. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.88.5.879
- Reinartz, W., Haenlein, M., & Henseler, J. (2009). An empirical comparison of the efficacy of covariance-based and variance-based SEM. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 26(4), 332-344. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2009.08.001

- Ringle, C. M., Wende, S., & Becker, J.-M. (2015). *SmartPLS 3*. Bönningstedt: SmartPLS. Retrieved from: http://www.smartpls.com
- Rizzo, J. R., House, R. J., & Lirtzman, S. I. (1970). Role Conflict and Ambiguity in Complex Organizations. Administrative Science Quarterly, 15(2), 150-163. doi:10.2307/2391486
- Russell, J. A. (1980). A circumplex model of affect. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *39*(6), 1161-1178. doi:10.1037/h0077714
- Salanova, M., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2008). A cross-national study of work engagement as a mediator between job resources and proactive behavior. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 19(1), 116-131. doi:10.1080/09585190701763982
- Salanova, M., Del Líbano, M., Llorens, S., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2014). Engaged, Workaholic, Burned-Out or Just 9-to-5? Toward a Typology of Employee Well-being. *Stress and Health*, 30(1), 71-81. doi:10.1002/smi.2499
- Schaufeli, W.B. (2013). What is engagement? In C. Truss, K. Alfes, R. Delbridge, A. Shantz, & E. Soane (Eds.), *Employee Engagement in Theory and Practice*. London: Routledge.
- Schaufeli, W. B., & Bakker, A. (2003). *uwes utrecht work engagement scale*. Occupational Health Psychology Unit, Utrecht University.
- Schaufeli, W. B., & Bakker, A. B. (2004). Job demands, job resources, and their relationship with burnout and engagement: A multi-sample study. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 25(3), 293-315.
- Schaufeli, W. B., Bakker, A. B., van der Heijden, F. M. M. A., & Prins, J. T. (2009a).
 Workaholism among medical residents: It is the combination of working excessively and compulsively that counts. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 16(4), 249-272. doi:10.1037/a0017537
- Schaufeli, W. B., Bakker, A. B., van der Heijden, F. M. M. A., & Prins, J. T. (2009b).
 Workaholism, burnout and well-being among junior doctors: The mediating role of role conflict. *Work & Stress*, 23(2), 155-172. doi:10.1080/02678370902834021
- Schaufeli, W. B., Bakker, A. B., & Van Rhenen, W. (2009). How changes in job demands and resources predict burnout, work engagement, and sickness absenteeism. *Journal of organizational Behavior*, 30(7), 893-917. doi:10.1002/job.595
- Schaufeli, W.B. & Salanova, M. (2007). Work engagement: An emerging psychological concept and its implications for organizations. In S.W. Gilliland, D.D. Steiner & D.P.

Skarlicki (Eds.), *Research in social issues in management: Managing social and ethical issues in organizations*. Greenwich, CT: Information Age Publishers

- Schaufeli, W. B., Salanova, M., Gonzàlez-Romá, V., & Bakker, A. B. (2002). The measurement of engagement and burnout: A two sample confirmatory factor analytic approach. *Journal of Happiness studies*, 3(1), 71-92.
- Schaufeli, W. B., Shimazu, A., & Taris, T. W. (2009). Being Driven to Work Excessively Hard: The Evaluation of a Two-factor Measure of Workaholism in The Netherlands and Japan. *Cross-Cultural Research*, 43, 28.
- Schaufeli, W. B., & Taris, T. W. (2014). A Critical Review of the Job Demands-Resources Model: Implications for Improving Work and Health. In G.F. Bauer and O. Hämmig (Eds.), *Bridging Occupational, Organizational and Public Health: A Transdisciplinary Approach.* doi:10.1007/978-94-007-5640-3_4
- Schaufeli, W. B., Taris, T. W., & Van Rhenen, W. (2008). Workaholism, Burnout, and Work
 Engagement: Three of a Kind or Three Different Kinds of Employee Well-being? *Applied Psychology*, 57(2), 173-203. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00285.x
- Schaufeli, W. B., Taris, T. W., & Bakker, A. B. (2008). It Takes Two to Tango: Workaholism is Working Excessively and Working Compulsively. In R. J. Burke & C. L. Cooper (Eds.). *The Long Work Hours Culture: Causes, Consequences and Choices*. Bingley, UK: Emerald
- Shimazu, A., Schaufeli, W. B., Kamiyama, K., & Kawakami, N. (2015). Workaholism vs.
 Work Engagement: the Two Different Predictors of Future Well-being and
 Performance. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 22. 18-23.
- Shimazu, A., Schaufeli, W. B., Kubota, K., & Kawakami, N. (2012). Do Workaholism and Work Engagement Predict Employee Well-being and Performance in Opposite Directions? *Industrial Health*, 50. 316-321. doi:10.2486/indhealth.MS1355
- Shimazu, A., Schaufeli, W. B., & Taris, T. W. (2010). How Does Workaholism Affect Worker Health and Performance? The Mediating Role of Coping. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 17(2), 154-160. doi:10.1007/s12529-010-9077-x
- Spence, J. T., & Robbins, A. S. (1992). Workaholism: Definition, measurement, and preliminary results. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 58, 160–178. doi:10.1207/s15327752jpa5801_15
- Taris, T. W., Schaufeli, W. B., & Verhoeven, L. C. (2005). Workaholism in the Netherlands: Measurement and Implications for Job Strain and Work–Nonwork Conflict. *Applied Psychology*, 54(1), 37-60. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.2005.00195.x

- Tims, M., & Bakker, A. B. (2010). Job crafting: Towards a new model of individual job redesign. *South African Journal of Industrial Psychology*, *36*, 1–9.
- Undebakke, K. G., Innstrand, S. T., Anthun, K. S., & Christensen, M. (2015). *The ARK Intervention Programme, Who – What – How.* Trondheim
- van Beek, I., Hu, Q., Schaufeli, W. B., Taris, T. W., & Schreurs, B. H. J. (2012). For Fun, Love, or Money: What Drives Workaholic, Engaged, and Burned-Out Employees at Work?. *Applied Psychology*, *61*(1), 30-55. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.2011.00454.x
- van Beek, I., Taris, T. W., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2011). Workaholic and work engaged employees: Dead ringers or worlds apart? *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 16(4), 468-482. doi:10.1037/a0024392
- van Beek, I., Taris, T. W., Schaufeli, W. B., & Brenninkmeijer, V. (2013). Heavy work investment: its motivational make-up and outcomes. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 29(1), 46-62. doi:doi:10.1108/JMP-06-2013-0166
- Watty, K., Bellamy, S. and Morley, C. (2003) Why business academics remain in Australian universities despite deteriorating working conditions and reduced job satisfaction: an intellectual puzzle. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 25(1), 13-27.
- Winefield, A. H. (2000). Stress in academe: Some recent research findings. In D. T. Kenny, J. G. Carlson, F. J. McGuigan, & J. L. Sheppard (Eds.), *Stress and health: Research and clinical applications* (pp. 437-446). Amsterdam, Netherlands: Harwood Academic Publishers.
- Wrzesniewski, A., & Dutton, J. E. (2001). Crafting a Job: Revisioning employees as active crafters of their work. *Academy of Management Review*, 25(2). 179-201.